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Since, by definition, Rangers patrolled the range between settlements, the resident popula-
tion at Fort Argyle fluctuated markedly during its lifetime. Aside from the provincial Rangers
that were garrisoned at the fort, a support contingent of the Trustee’s servants and possibly
soldier’s wives resided there as well. When two vicious outlaws went to Fort Argyle and
attacked a servant family in September, 1740, an event that is documented in the colonial
records, the fort was apparently unguarded by the Rangers and the fort was easily penetrated.

The commanders of Fort Argyle included James McPherson, Lachlan McIntosh, Thomas
Jones, John Milledge, and possibly others. The first two commanders, McPherson and
Meclntosh, were seasoned Scottish Rangers from South Carolina. Thomas Jones was of mixed
British and Native American ancestry; and John Milledge was from England. The commander
with the most seniority was Captain Milledge, who served throughout King George’s War
and the French and Indian War. He later went on to be a politician. In the hierarchy below the
Captains were the Lieutenants, Quartermaster, Surgeon, Cornet, Drummer, Cadets (officers in
training), Corporals, and, finally, the lowly Privates. The Appendix in the back of this booklet
contains a list of people stationed at or passing through Fort Argyle from 1733 to 1767.
Perhaps one of your ancestors was among them!

Fort Argyle had several Lieutenants who were capable of taking command of the fort in
the Captain’s absence. The most colorful of these was Moses Nunez Rivers. Moses was a
Portuguese Jew, who worked for a while as a fur and deerskin trader among the Tucka-
batchees—an Upper Creek tribe in Alabama. Oglethorpe trusted Nunez and sent him to
Virginia to enlist Ranger recruits during King George’s War. Lieutenant Nunez became fluent
in the southeastern Native American languages and became invaluable as an interpreter at
important treaty talks.

Lower-ranking officers shared a variety of duties. The quartermaster had the job of supplying
the Rangers with food and other supplies. The surgeon met the medical needs of the Ranger
troop. The cornet, a rank that has since been replaced by second licutenant, was the standard
bearer for the Ranger troop. Corporals, who were noncommissioned officers, were in charge
of a small group of Rangers. The drummer, which was a commissioned rank, was Thomas
Grey for most of the fort’s history.

The privates at Argyle are a fairly anonymous lot, although they were the largest group of
soldiers at the fort. The names of many of the privates are completely unknown. Others are
known through brief account. While some rose in the ranks to become non-commissioned
officers, most remained privates throughout their stay at Argyle. For some, their stay was brief,
lasting less than six months. Others, however, were “lifers” and spent more than a decade at
the fort. Some of the privates were colorful personalities as well. Obadiah Gruenig was a
private in Milledge’s Troop until he was caught stealing horses. He and another man were
hanged for their actions. Other privates were more fortunate, acquiring plantations and
becoming upstanding citizens after leaving Argyle.
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For other Trustees’ servants at Fort
Argyle death was more swift. John
and Helen Smyth, husband and

wife, were murdered when two
escaped prisoners ransacked the fort.
No Rangers were in the fort at the
time. The villains were later caught,
convicted of the crime, and executed.
The body of one of them, an Irishman
named William Shannon, was later
hung at the entrance of Ogeechee
Sound as a warning to other foreign
infiltrators.

Who were the Georgia Rangers?
They were a mix of English,
Germans, Scots, South Carolinians,
and Virginians, who held down the
fort at Argyle in the name of the
British Crown. They kept the fort
Figure 3. James Oglethorpe. Courtesy Oglethorpe operating MR
University E i King George’s War (1739 to 1747), the
Seven Years’ War (1757 to 1763), and

numerous skirmishes with Native Americans. The Rangers performed a multitude of other
tasks, such as escorting travelers, delivering letters, catching runaway servants and slaves,
and herding livestock. One of their final tasks was to put down an uprising surrounding the
unpopular Stamp Act in Savannah, shortly before the American Revolution.
WHO WERE THE ENEMY?

During the sixteenth through the eighteenth centuries Georgia (Figure 2) was the scene
of an international struggle for territorial control by the major world powers, particularly
between Spain, France, and Great Britain. Spain’s grip on the region began to loosen after
the abandonment of the Guale missions in Georgia in the sixteenth century. With the estab-
lishment of Charleston in 1670, England began to extend her reach into what was to become
Georgia. The Apalachee were one of Spain’s strongest Native American allies, and in 1704
British Colonel James Moore made a successful and destructive raid against them, which
proved to be a major blow to Spanish domination in the region. The raid was followed
soon after by the defeat of other Native American groups during the Yamassee War. In the
early 1720s, South Carolina projected its authority into the Altamaha River basin with the
construction of Fort King George near Darien. The Georgia colony was formed in 1732 and
settlers arrived from England to establish the town of Savannah in February, 1733. Other
small settlements, such as Abercorn, Josephstown, Thunderbolt, and Skidaway, followed
within months of James Oglethorpe’s arrival. Major settlements, such as Augusta, Darien,
Ebenezer, and Frederica, followed a few years later. Spain and France were the major threats
to Georgia. Creek Indians, loyal to the Spanish, and Cherokee, loyal to the French, were the
immediate threat to colonial Georgia.
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of at least two rooms,
was located along the
eastern wall of the

fort, on the bank of the
Ogeechee River. This
barracks had a large
‘H-style’ brick chimney
used for heating and
cooking (Figure 5).

A third rebuilding
of the fort may have
occurred in the 1760s
during the French and
Indian War, when Fort
Argyle had its largest
garrison. The archaeo-
logical team suspected
that this fort was larger than the previous fort, although very little is known about it. The
barracks built during the previous construction phase probably continued to be used during
this period. This fort was abandoned in 1767 when the Georgia Rangers were dismissed by
General Thomas Gage, Commander in Chief of His Majesty’s Forces in North America.

Figure 5. The excavated H-shaped chimney, which warmed a barracks
building at Fort Argyle.

HOW WAS THE FORT FOUND?

The general vicinity of Fort Argyle has been known since the fort was abandoned, but the
precise location of the fort ruins was not known. The fort is shown on a few early maps of
Georgia, but none of these maps provided sufficient detail to pinpoint the fort. Historians, such
as Larry Ivers, were able to learn a lot about Fort Argyle and the Rangers from the surviving
historical records, but it fell to the archaeologists to unearth tangible proof of the fort’s
existence and additional information about the people who used it.

The fort ruins were found in 1985 by a team of archaeologists led by Chad Braley of
Southeastern Archaeological Services. Braley and his research team began by using two
survey techniques-a remote sensing technique, known as soil resistivity, and systematic shovel
tests, to narrow the search. Small test holes, 50 square centimeters (20 square inches), were
dug on a 20 square meter (66 square feet) grid across an area suspected to contain the fort.

All the soil from these test holes was sifted through screen wire and all the artifacts were col-
lected. The patterns of these artifacts led the archaeologists closer to finding the fort. Next, the
LAMAR's archaeological team excavated a series of test excavation holes of varying size in-
tended to “check out” promising areas that were located during the survey phase. The ground
around the fort had been plowed following the establishment of the fort. This soil contained
many small broken artifacts from the colonial period. To their delight, archaeologists found
the remnants of the fort’s foundations in the next soil zone. Braley returned to the laboratory
where he and his colleagues cleaned and analyzed the artifacts they had found. They combined
this information with their historical research and were able to construct the first chapter in the
story of Fort Argyle.
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Another chapter was written in 1996 when a team of archaeologists with the LAMAR
Institute, under the direction of Daniel Elliott, returned to Fort Argyle for a five-week ex-
cavation project (Figure 8). This team also surveyed 150 acres surrounding the fort to see
if other associated settlements could be located nearby. Elliott’s team uncovered more of
the fort that Braley had identified. Figures 6 and 7 show detailed plan views, or overhead
views, of some of the features that were uncovered by archaeologists. Figure 6 includes

a portion of the southeastern corner bastion palisade ditch from the first fort and a large
H-style brick chimney (Figure 5) from the second fort.

The comer bastion was a standard &
feature on eighteenth century forts. 4%
Soldiers firing from the bastion could
aim their guns to cover their flanks.
The second fort probably did not have
any corner bastions, but was a simple
rectangular stockade. A concentration &
of posts that supported the blockhouse

for the first fort was identified in the |8 % »
center of the fort. From within the €z B ~
two-story blockhouse, the Rangers y%\‘ S
could fire their cannons and flintlocks ~ £igure 8. Archeologists excavate Fort Argyle in 1996.

in the event the outer wall of the fort was breached by the enemy. The blockhouse also served
as living quarters and a warehouse for food and ammunition. Figure 7 shows a portion of the
south curtain wall palisade ditch of the second fort, along with a rectangular trench for an
early house (circa 1733-1741) at Fort Argyle. The house would have been located outside of
the walls of the first fort. This house must have been in ruins before the second fort was built
since the palisade ditch from the second fort cut through the ruins of the house. The project
came to an end before the architectural plan of the first fort could be completely understood,
but hypothesized layouts for the first and second Fort Argyle were presented. Elliott’s team
also found tentative evidence for a third fort on the site, which awaits future researchers.

WHAT DID ARCHAEOLOGISTS FIND IN THE FORT?

The archaeologists found a great deal of architectural evidence associated with Fort Argyle,
including several sections of palisade ditch, a moat, two corner bastions, and several build-
ings. During the earliest period of the fort the Rangers probably lived together in a central
blockhouse. This blockhouse, which was likely a two-story wooden building, was supported
by a series of large posts. By the 1740s barracks equipped with at least one large brick
chimney, were built along the fort wall to house the Rangers. The artifacts that were used
and discarded by the garrison at Fort Argyle—in other words, their trash— form the material
culture of the Georgia Rangers. Although the fort was used for more than three decades it was
surprisingly lacking in eighteenth century trash, partly the result of years of farming on the

site. 77
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Also, much of the trash generated within the fort was probably tossed into the Ogeechee
River, located immediately adjacent to the fort. A variety of broken sherds of pottery were
found, including many English-made wares (Figure 9), locally made wares, and a few sherds
of Chinese porcelain. Broken wine bottle glass (Figure 10) and wine goblets, perhaps the
aftermath from a rowdy celebration, also were found. Other items include clothing parts, such
as brass buttons and shoe buckles, smoking pipes (Figure 11),

and a variety of lead balls or bullets (Figure 12).
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Sometimes archaeologists find artifacts that demonstrate the
resourcefulness of the early settlers. An example of this is shown
in Figure 14. The upper gunflint is made from English flint and
brought to this country by boat, while the lower example is made
from a sherd of an English glass wine bottle. When regular gun-
flints were not available, the soldiers fashioned substitutes from
whatever they could find.

HOW DO ARCHAEOLOGISTS KNOW WHAT THEY
KNOW?

Contrary to what many people think, archaeology is not magic.
It is, instead, a careful social science that relies on a wide array
Figure 14. An English flint  of research tools, scientific methods, and diligent study for its ad-
ﬂ;"”"m/ el vancement (Figure 15). Archaeology as a science has been around
glass flint (top). S G . .

for more than 100 years, but historical archaeology is a relatively
new scientific field dating to the early 1970s.

Figure 15. Archaelogist Joel Jones examines the first fort's palisade ditch.
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